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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Financial Statements

GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Income Statements

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
(In thousands, except per share data)   2013   2012  
Net revenue   $142,030   $117,131  
Costs and expenses:    

Instructional costs and services    59,997    50,824  
Admissions advisory and related, including $753 and $432 to related parties for March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively    22,993    19,991  
Advertising, including $0 and $15 to related parties for March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively    15,929    13,639  
Marketing and promotional    1,435    929  
General and administrative    8,051    7,544  

    
 

   
 

Total costs and expenses    108,405    92,927  
    

 
   

 

Operating income    33,625    24,204  
Interest expense    (668)   (207) 
Interest income and other income    2,195    10  

    
 

   
 

Income before income taxes    35,152    24,007  
Income tax expense    14,207    9,538  

    
 

   
 

Net income   $ 20,945   $ 14,469  
    

 

   

 

Earnings per share:    
Basic income per share   $ 0.47   $ 0.33  

    

 

   

 

Diluted income per share   $ 0.46   $ 0.32  
    

 

   

 

Basic weighted average shares outstanding    44,242    44,371  
    

 

   

 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    45,449    45,151  
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
(In thousands)   2013   2012  
Net income   $20,945   $14,469  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:    

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes of $0 for March 31, 2013    (8)   —    
Unrealized gains on hedging derivatives, net of taxes of $31 and $20 for March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively    40    27  

    
 

   
 

Comprehensive income   $20,977   $14,496  
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

 
   March 31,   December 31, 
(In thousands, except par value)   2013   2012  
   (Unaudited)    

ASSETS:    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 127,739   $ 105,111  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents    49,680    55,964  
Investments    23,802    —    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $8,389 and $8,657 at March 31, 2013 and December 31,

2012, respectively    7,651    7,951  
Note receivable secured by real estate    —      27,000  
Deferred income taxes    5,279    5,481  
Other current assets    13,847    12,667  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    227,998    214,174  
Property and equipment, net    283,584    269,162  
Restricted cash    225    225  
Prepaid royalties    5,135    5,299  
Goodwill    2,941    2,941  
Other assets    4,011    3,122  

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 523,894   $ 494,923  
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable   $ 20,353   $ 14,174  
Accrued compensation and benefits    13,163    18,812  
Accrued liabilities    17,585    17,467  
Income taxes payable    9,215    8,704  
Student deposits    51,277    57,745  
Deferred revenue    38,963    28,614  
Due to related parties    429    523  
Current portion of capital lease obligations    88    87  
Current portion of notes payable    6,601    6,601  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    157,674    152,727  
Capital lease obligations, less current portion    565    587  
Other noncurrent liabilities    7,141    7,405  
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent    8,601    7,045  
Notes payable, less current portion    91,449    93,100  

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    265,430    260,864  
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies    
Stockholders’ equity    
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2013 and

December 31, 2012    —      —    
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized; 48,167 and 47,136 shares issued and 45,492 and 44,716 shares

outstanding at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively    482    471  
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,676 and 2,420 shares of common stock at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012    (45,142)   (39,136) 
Additional paid-in capital    111,556    102,133  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (191)   (223) 
Accumulated earnings    191,759    170,814  

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    258,464    234,059  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 523,894   $ 494,923  
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
                 Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive 

      
              Additional

Paid-in  
       

  Common Stock   Treasury Stock     Accumulated    
  Shares   Par Value  Shares   Cost   Capital   Loss   Earnings   Total  
Balance at December 31, 2012   47,136   $ 471    2,420   $(39,136)  $102,133   $ (223)  $ 170,814   $234,059  
Net income   —      —      —      —      —      —      20,945    20,945  
Unrealized gain on hedging derivative, net of taxes of $31   —      —      —      —      —      40    —      40  
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes of

$0   —      —      —      —      —      (8)   —      (8) 
Common stock purchased for treasury   —      —      215    (5,069)   —      —      —      (5,069) 
Exercise of stock options   459    5    —      —      5,854    —      —      5,859  
Excess tax benefits   —      —      —      —      1,405    —      —      1,405  
Share-based compensation   572    6    41    (937)   2,164    —      —      1,233  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at March 31, 2013   48,167   $ 482    2,676   $(45,142)  $ 111,556   $ (191)  $ 191,759   $258,464  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
(In thousands)   2013   2012  
Cash flows provided by operating activities:   
Net income   $ 20,945   $ 14,469  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Share-based compensation    2,170    1,694  
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation    (3,499)   (65) 
Amortization of debt issuance costs    —      15  
Provision for bad debts    4,941    4,122  
Depreciation and amortization    5,951    5,032  
Loss on asset disposal    —      182  
Gain on proceeds received from note receivable    (2,187)   —    
Deferred income taxes    1,739    (247) 
Changes in assets and liabilities:    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents    6,284    5,661  
Accounts receivable    (4,641)   (150) 
Prepaid expenses and other    (2,069)   (1,104) 
Due to/from related parties    (94)   52  
Accounts payable    2,112    742  
Accrued liabilities and employee related liabilities    (5,531)   (2,798) 
Income taxes receivable/payable    1,904    16,556  
Deferred rent    (193)   622  
Deferred revenue    10,349    11,756  
Student deposits    (6,468)   (5,699) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    31,713    50,840  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows used in investing activities:    
Capital expenditures    (14,704)   (16,876) 
Purchase of land and building related to future development    (1,438)   —    
Purchases of investments    (23,810)   —    
Proceeds received from note receivable    29,187    —    

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (10,765)   (16,876) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows provided by financing activities:    
Principal payments on notes payable and capital lease obligations    (1,672)   (829) 
Repurchase of common shares including shares withheld in lieu of income taxes    (6,006)   —    
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation    3,499    65  
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options    5,859    2,311  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    1,680    1,547  
    

 
   

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    22,628    35,511  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    105,111    21,189  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $127,739   $ 56,700  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information    
Cash paid for interest   $ 573   $ 253  
Cash paid for income taxes   $ 10,566   $ 1,061  
Cash received for income tax refunds   $ 2   $ 7,522  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities    
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable   $ 4,067   $ 5,395  
Tax benefit of Spirit warrant intangible   $ 67   $ 59  
Shortfall tax expense from share-based compensation   $ 74   $ 17  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

1. Nature of Business

Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “University”) is a regionally accredited provider of postsecondary education services
focused on offering graduate and undergraduate degree programs in its core disciplines of education, healthcare, business, and liberal arts. The University offers
courses online, on ground at its approximately 115 acre traditional ground campus in Phoenix, Arizona and onsite at facilities it leases and at facilities owned by
third party employers. The University is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools. The
University’s wholly-owned subsidiaries are primarily used to facilitate expansion of the University campus.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the University and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the University have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, consistent in all material respects with those applied in its financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2012. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
for complete financial statements. Such interim financial information is unaudited but reflects all adjustments that in the opinion of management are necessary for
the fair presentation of the interim periods presented. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year. These consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the University’s audited financial statements and footnotes included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 from which the December 31, 2012, balance sheet information was derived.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

A significant portion of the University’s revenue is received from students who participate in government financial aid and assistance programs. Restricted
cash and cash equivalents primarily represent amounts received from the federal and state governments under various student aid grant and loan programs, such
as Title IV. The University receives these funds subsequent to the completion of the authorization and disbursement process and holds them for the benefit of the
student. The U.S. Department of Education (“Department of Education”) requires Title IV funds collected in advance of student billings to be segregated in a
separate cash or cash equivalent account until the course begins. The University records all of these amounts as a current asset in restricted cash and cash
equivalents until the cash is no longer restricted, at which time such amounts are reclassified as cash and cash equivalents. The majority of these funds remain as
restricted cash and cash equivalents for an average of 60 to 90 days from the date of receipt.

During the second quarter of 2012, the University changed its presentation of changes in restricted cash and cash equivalents related to financial aid
program funds to cash flows provided by operating activities on the consolidated statement of cash flows. These restricted funds are a core activity of the
University operations and, accordingly, the University believes presentation of changes in such funds as an operating activity more appropriately reflects the
nature of the restricted cash. Additionally, the University believes that including both the restricted cash and student deposit changes within operating activities
provides better transparency.

In addition, the counterparty to the University’s interest rate swap made a collateral call in 2010 and the pledged collateral is classified as noncurrent
restricted cash. The pledged collateral was $225 as of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012. The University reports changes in restricted cash related to
derivative collateral as investing cash flows in its consolidated statement of cash flows.

Investments

The University considers its investments in municipal securities as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value,
determined using Level 2 of the hierarchy of valuation inputs, with the use of inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets, with unrealized
gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses considered to be other-than-temporary are recognized
currently in earnings. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method. Amortization of premiums, accretion of discounts, interest and
dividend income and realized gains and losses are included in interest and other income.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
Note Receivable

The University purchased a note receivable from a financial institution at fair market value in the fourth quarter of 2012 for $27,000. The note bore interest
at 11%, which represented the 6% rate of the loan plus the 5% default rate. The principal and most of the interest due on the note was received in March 2013
resulting in the full return on investment of the note receivable and an additional gain in interest income and other income of $2,187 on the loan. However, the
borrower has disputed certain amounts due under the note agreement, including some of the default interest and a late payment penalty. The disputed amount of
$2,068 is being held in escrow. This amount is in dispute, and as a result, has been treated as a gain contingency and thus will not be recorded as a receivable or
income until resolution is reached.

Derivatives and Hedging

Derivative financial instruments are recorded on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities and re-measured at fair value at each reporting date. For
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a component of other comprehensive income
and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Gains and losses on the derivative representing
either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness are recognized in current earnings.

Derivative financial instruments enable the University to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The University does not engage in any derivative
instrument trading activity. Credit risk associated with the University’s derivatives is limited to the risk that a derivative counterparty will not perform in
accordance with the terms of the contract. Exposure to counterparty credit risk is considered low because these agreements have been entered into with
institutions with strong credit ratings, and they are expected to perform fully under the terms of the agreements.

On June 30, 2009 and February 27, 2013, respectively, the University entered into an interest rate swap and an interest rate corridor to manage its 30 Day
LIBOR interest exposure related to its variable rate debt. The fair value of the interest rate corridor instrument as of March 31, 2013 was $1,241, which is
included in other assets. The fair value of the interest rate swap is a liability of $319 and $390 as of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, which
is included in other noncurrent liabilities. The fair values of each derivative instrument were determined using a hypothetical derivative transaction and Level 2 of
the hierarchy of valuation inputs. These derivative instruments were originally designated as cash flow hedges of variable rate debt obligations.

The interest rate corridor instrument reduces variable interest rate risk starting March 1, 2013 through December 20, 2019 with a notional amount of
$88,777 as of March 31, 2013. The corridor instrument’s terms permits the University to hedge its interest rate risk at several thresholds; the University pays
variable interest monthly based on the 30 Day LIBOR rates until that index reaches 1.5%. If 30 Day LIBOR is equal to 1.5% through 3.0%, the University pays
1.5%. If 30 Day LIBOR exceeds 3.0%, the University pays actual 30 Day LIBOR less 1.5%. Changes in this instrument’s fair value are recorded in other
comprehensive income.

The interest rate swap commenced on May 1, 2010 and continues each month thereafter until April 30, 2014 and has a notional amount of $9,557 as of
March 31, 2013. Under the terms of the agreement, the University receives 30 Day LIBOR and pays 3.245% fixed interest on the amortizing notional amount.
Therefore, the University has hedged its exposure to future variable rate cash flows through April 30, 2014. The interest rate swap is not subject to a master
netting arrangement and collateral has been called by the counterparty and reflected in a restricted cash account as of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 in
the amount of $225.

As of March 31, 2013 no derivative ineffectiveness was identified for the interest rate swap. Any ineffectiveness in the University’s derivative instrument
designated as a hedge is reported in interest expense in the income statement. For the three months ended March 31, 2013, $30 of credit risk was recorded in
interest expense for the interest rate corridor and interest rate swap. At March 31, 2013, the University does not expect to reclassify gains or losses on derivative
instruments from accumulated other comprehensive (loss) into earnings during the next 12 months.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

As of March 31, 2013, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, account payable and accrued compensation and
benefits and accrued liabilities expenses approximate their fair value based on the liquidity or the short-term maturities of these instruments. The carrying value of
notes payable approximates fair value as it is based on variable rate index. The carrying value of capital lease obligations approximate fair value based upon
market interest rates available to the University for debt of similar risk and maturities. Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value, determined using
Level 2 of the hierarchy of valuation inputs, with the use of inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.

The fair value of investments, primarily municipal securities, was determined using Level 2 of the hierarchy of valuation inputs, with the use of inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets. The municipal securities are comprised of city and county bonds related to schools, water and sewer,
utilities, transportation and housing.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
The fair value of the prepaid royalty asset relating to the settlement of future royalty payment obligations to the former owner was determined using an

income approach, based on management’s forecasts of revenue to be generated through its online education programs using Level 3 of the hierarchy of valuation
inputs. The rate utilized to discount net cash flows to their present values was 35%. This discount rate was determined after consideration of the University’s
weighted average cost of capital giving effect to estimates of the University’s risk-free rate, beta coeffieient, equity risk premium, small size risk premium, and
company-specific risk premium.

Revenue Recognition

Net revenues consist primarily of tuition and fees derived from courses taught by the University online, on ground at its traditional campus in Phoenix,
Arizona, and onsite at facilities it leases and at facilities owned by third party employers, as well as from related educational resources that the University
provides to its students, such as access to online materials. Tuition revenue and most fees from related educational resources are recognized pro-rata over the
applicable period of instruction, net of scholarships provided by the University. For the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, the University’s revenue
was reduced by approximately $28,255 and $23,865, respectively, as a result of scholarships that the University offered to students. The University maintains an
institutional tuition refund policy, which provides for all or a portion of tuition to be refunded if a student withdraws during stated refund periods. Certain states in
which students reside impose separate, mandatory refund policies, which override the University’s policy to the extent in conflict. If a student withdraws at a time
when only a portion, or none, of the tuition is refundable, then in accordance with its revenue recognition policy, the University continues to recognize the tuition
that was not refunded pro-rata over the applicable period of instruction. Since the University recognizes revenue pro-rata over the term of the course and because,
under its institutional refund policy, the amount subject to refund is never greater than the amount of the revenue that has been deferred, under the University’s
accounting policies revenue is not recognized with respect to amounts that could potentially be refunded. Sales tax collected from students is excluded from net
revenues. Collected but unremitted sales tax is included as an accrued liability in the consolidated balance sheets. The University also charges online students an
upfront learning management fee, which is deferred and recognized over the average expected term of a student. Costs that are direct and incremental to new
online students are also deferred and recognized ratably over the average expected term of a student. Deferred revenue and student deposits in any period
represent the excess of tuition, fees, and other student payments received as compared to amounts recognized as revenue on the income statement and are
reflected as current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The University’s educational programs have starting and ending dates that differ
from its fiscal quarters. Therefore, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a portion of revenue from these programs is not yet earned. Other revenues may be recognized
as sales occur or services are performed.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

All students are required to select both a primary and secondary payment option with respect to amounts due to the University for tuition, fees and other
expenses. The most common payment option for the University’s students is financial aid. In instances where a student selects financial aid as the primary
payment option, he or she often selects personal cash as the secondary option. If a student who has selected financial aid as his or her primary payment option
withdraws prior to the end of a course but after the date that the University’s institutional refund period has expired, the student will have incurred the obligation
to pay the full cost of the course. If the withdrawal occurs before the date at which the student has earned 100% of his or her financial aid, the University will
have a return to Title IV requirement and the student will owe the University all amounts incurred that are in excess of the amount of financial aid that the student
earned and that the University is entitled to retain. In this case, the University must collect the receivable using the student’s second payment option. In instances
in which the students chose to receive living expense funds as part of his or her financial aid disbursement, the University is required to return the unearned
portion of these funds as well and then collect these amounts from the student.

The University records an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability, failure or refusal of its students to make
required payments, which includes the recovery of financial aid funds advanced to a student for amounts in excess of the student’s cost of tuition and related fees.
The University determines the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts based on an analysis of its historical bad debt experience, current economic trends,
the aging of the accounts receivable and student status. The University applies reserves to its receivables based upon an estimate of the risk presented by the age
of the receivables and student status. The University writes off accounts receivable balances at the earlier of the time the balances were deemed uncollectible, or
one year after the revenue is generated. However, if a student becomes inactive, the University writes off the account 150 days after becoming delinquent. The
University reflects accounts receivable with an offsetting allowance as long as management believes there is a reasonable possibility of collection. Bad debt
expense is recorded as an instructional costs and services expense in the consolidated income statement.

Financial Statement Presentation

Effective during the first quarter of 2013, the University made changes in its presentation of operating expenses and reclassified prior periods to conform to
the current presentation. The University determined that these changes would provide more meaningful information and are consistent with changes recently
made by a number of other regionally accredited for-profit universities. Additionally, this new presentation better classifies its costs consistently with the
operational changes the University has made related to the roles and responsibilities of its admissions personnel. Specifically the University has separated
admissions advisory and related expenses from advertising, and marketing and promotional expenses as the admissions personnel role has evolved into one in
which a substantial amount of their time is spent educating students not only during the admissions process but also through matriculation and during their
program of study.
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GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
Instructional Costs and Services

Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the University’s educational programs. This expense
category includes salaries, benefits and share-based compensation for full-time and adjunct faculty and administrative personnel, information technology costs,
bad debt expense, curriculum and new program development costs (which are expensed as incurred) and costs associated with other support groups that provide
services directly to the students. This category also includes an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent, and occupancy costs attributable to the provision of
educational services, primarily at the University’s Phoenix, Arizona campus.

Admissions Advisory and Related

The University previously reported costs related to our admissions advisory personnel in selling and promotional on our Consolidated Income Statement.
Effective during the first quarter of 2013, the University began separating admissions advisory and related expenses from advertising, and marketing and
promotional expenses on our Consolidated Income Statement as “admissions advisory and related.” Based on the operational changes discussed above, the
University believes the disaggregation of admissions personnel and related costs from advertising, and marketing and promotional expenses provides more
meaningful information and is consistent with changes recently made by a number of other regionally accredited for-profit universities. This expense category
includes salaries and benefits for admissions advisory personnel and, revenue share expense as well as an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent and
occupancy costs attributable to the admissions advisory personnel.

Advertising

As discussed above the University previously reported advertising costs in selling and promotional on our Consolidated Income Statement. Effective
during the first quarter of 2013, the University began separating advertising expenses from admissions advisory and related expenses, and marketing and
promotional expenses on our Consolidated Income Statement as “advertising.” Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

Marketing and Promotional

The University previously reported costs related to our marketing and promotional expenses in selling and promotional on our Consolidated Income
Statement. Effective during the first quarter of 2013, the University began separating marketing and promotional expenses from admissions advisory and related
expenses and advertising expenses on our Consolidated Income Statement as “marketing and promotional.” This expense category includes salaries, benefits and
share-based compensation for marketing personnel, and other promotional expenses. This category also includes an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent,
and occupancy costs attributable to marketing and promotional activities. Marketing and promotional costs are expensed as incurred.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include salaries, benefits and share-based compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance,
human resources, compliance, and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent,
and occupancy costs attributable to the departments providing general and administrative functions.

We have reclassified our operating expenses for prior periods to conform to the above disaggregation and revisions to our presentation. There were no
changes to total operating expenses or operating income as a result of these reclassifications. The following table presents our operating expenses as previously
reported and as reclassified on our Consolidated Income Statement for each of the quarters in 2012.
 

   2012  

   
First Quarter
As Reported    

First Quarter
As 

Reclassified    
Second Quarter

As Reported    
Second Quarter
As Reclassified  

Costs and expenses:         
Instructional costs and services   $ 50,824    $ 50,824    $ 53,406    $ 53,406  
Admissions advisory and related    —       19,991     —       20,369  
Advertising    —       13,639     —       11,467  
Marketing and promotional    —       929     —       919  
Selling and promotional    34,559     —       32,755     —    
General and administrative    7,544     7,544     7,701     7,701  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total costs and expenses   $ 92,927    $ 92,927    $ 93,862    $ 93,862  
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   2012  

   
Third Quarter
As Reported    

Third Quarter
As 

Reclassified    
Fourth Quarter

As Reported    
Fourth Quarter
As Reclassified  

Costs and expenses:         
Instructional costs and services   $ 57,354    $ 57,354    $ 58,819    $ 58,819  
Admissions advisory and related    —       22,342     —       23,215  
Advertising    —       12,909     —       13,008  
Marketing and promotional    —       1,199     —       1,313  
Selling and promotional    36,450     —       37,536     —    
General and administrative    8,561     8,561     11,696     11,696  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total costs and expenses   $ 102,365    $ 102,365    $ 108,051    $ 108,051  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Commitments and Contingencies

The University accrues for contingent obligations when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable. When the
University becomes aware of a claim or potential claim, the likelihood of any loss exposure is assessed. If it is probable that a loss will result and the amount of
the loss is estimable, the University records a liability for the estimated loss. If the loss is not probable or the amount of the potential loss is not estimable, the
University will disclose the claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible and the amount of the potential loss could be material. Estimates that
are particularly sensitive to future changes include tax, legal, and other regulatory matters, which are subject to change as events evolve, and as additional
information becomes available during the administrative and litigation process. The University expenses legal fees as incurred.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Segment Information

The University operates as a single educational delivery operation using a core infrastructure that serves the curriculum and educational delivery needs of
both its ground and online students regardless of geography. The University’s Chief Executive Officer manages the University’s operations as a whole and no
expense or operating income information is generated or evaluated on any component level.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The University has determined no recent accounting pronouncements apply to its operations or would otherwise have a material impact on its financial
statements.

3. Investments

The University had no investments as of December 31, 2012. The following is a summary of amounts included in investments as of March 31, 2013. The
University considered all investments as available for sale.
 

   As of March 31, 2013  

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

(Losses)   

Estimated
Fair

Value  
Municipal securities   $ 23,810    $ 1    $ (9)  $ 23,802  

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

The cash flows of municipal securities are backed by the issuing municipality’s credit worthiness. All municipal securities are due in one year or less as of
March 31, 2013. For the three months ended March 31, 2013, the net unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities were $8.

4. Net Income Per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per common share reflects the assumed conversion of all potentially dilutive securities, consisting of stock
options and restricted stock awards, for which the estimated fair value exceeds the exercise price, less shares which could have been purchased with the related
proceeds, unless anti-dilutive. For employee equity awards, repurchased shares are also included for any unearned compensation adjusted for tax.
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The table below reflects the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, on an as if converted basis, used in computing

basic and diluted earnings per common share.
 

   Three Months Ended March 31,  
   2013    2012  
Denominator:     

Basic weighted average shares outstanding    44,242     44,371  
Effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock    1,207     780  

    
 

    
 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding    45,449     45,151  
    

 

    

 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding exclude the incremental effect of shares that would be issued upon the assumed exercise of stock options. For
the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, approximately 350 and 2,288, respectively, of the University’s stock options outstanding were excluded from
the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. These options could be dilutive in the future.

5. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 

   

Balance at
Beginning 

of
Period    

Charged to
Expense    Deductions   

Balance at
End of
Period  

Three months ended March 31, 2013   $ 8,657     4,941     (5,209)  $ 8,389  
Three months ended March 31, 2012   $ 11,706     4,122     (6,984)  $ 8,844  

(1) Deductions represent accounts written off, net of recoveries.

6. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consist of the following:
 

   
March 31,

2013   
December 31,

2012  
Land   $ 13,770   $ 13,294  
Land improvements    4,269    3,439  
Buildings    182,756    180,945  
Equipment under capital leases    5,310    5,310  
Leasehold improvements    26,567    24,930  
Computer equipment    57,649    55,734  
Furniture, fixtures and equipment    23,063    22,124  
Internally developed software    12,334    11,039  
Other    1,098    1,099  
Construction in progress    23,795    12,487  

    
 

   
 

   350,611    330,401  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization    (67,027)   (61,239) 

    
 

   
 

Property and equipment, net   $283,584   $ 269,162  
    

 

   

 

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The University leases certain land, buildings and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases expiring at various dates through 2021. Future minimum
lease payments under operating leases due each year are as follows at March 31, 2013:
 

2013 (remaining nine months)   $ 4,772  
2014    5,916  
2015    5,942  
2016    5,253  
2017    3,999  
Thereafter    10,631  

    
 

Total minimum payments   $36,513  
    

 

Total rent expense, including related taxes and operating expenses, under operating leases for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 were
$1,784 and $1,963, respectively.
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Legal Matters

From time to time, the University is a party to various lawsuits, claims, and other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business, some of
which are covered by insurance. When the University is aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. If it is probable that
a loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, the University records a liability for the loss. If the loss is not probable or the amount of
the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, the University discloses the nature of the specific claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible and the
amount involved could be material. With respect to the majority of pending litigation matters, the University’s ultimate legal and financial responsibility, if any,
cannot be estimated with certainty and, in most cases, any potential losses related to those matters are not considered probable.

Upon resolution of any pending legal matters, the University may incur charges in excess of presently established reserves. Management does not believe
that any such charges would, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the University’s financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.

Tax Reserves, Non-Income Tax Related

From time to time the University has exposure to various non-income tax related matters that arise in the ordinary course of business. At March 31, 2013
and December 31, 2012, the University reserved approximately $722 and $703, respectively, for tax matters where its ultimate exposure is considered probable
and the potential loss can be reasonably estimated.

8. Share-Based Compensation

Adoption of Equity Plans

On September 27, 2008 the University’s shareholders approved the adoption of the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (“Incentive Plan”) and the 2008 Employee
Stock Purchase (“ESPP”). A total of 4,200 shares of the University’s common stock was originally authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan. On January 1
of each subsequent year in accordance with the terms of the Incentive Plan, the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan automatically
increases by 2.5% of the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding on the previous December 31, raising the total number of shares of common
stock currently authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan to 9,847 shares effective January 1, 2013. Although the ESPP has not yet been implemented, a
total of 1,050 shares of the University’s common stock has been authorized for sale under the ESPP.

Incentive Plan

Restricted Stock

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the University granted 572 shares of common stock with a service vesting condition to certain of its
executives, officers, faculty and employees. The restricted shares have voting rights and vest in five annual installments of 20% starting on March 1, 2014 and
each of the four anniversaries of the vesting date following the date of grant. Upon vesting, shares will be held in lieu of taxes equivalent to the minimum
statutory tax withholding required to be paid when the restricted stock vests. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the University withheld 39 shares of
common stock in lieu of taxes at a cost of $937 on the restricted stock vesting date.

A summary of the activity related to restricted stock granted under the University’s Incentive Plan since December 31, 2012 is as follows:
 

   
Total

Shares   

Weighted Average Grant 
Date

Fair Value per Share  
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012    553   $ 17.04  

    

 

 

Granted    572   $ 24.03  
Vested    (104)  $ 17.03  
Forfeited, canceled or expired    (2)  $ 17.03  

    
 

 

Outstanding as of March 31, 2013    1,019   $ 20.96  
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Stock Options

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the University granted time vested options to purchase shares of common stock with an exercise price
equal to the fair market value on the date of grant to an employee. The time vested options vest ratably over a period of four years and expire ten years from the
date of grant. No options were granted in 2012. A summary of the activity related to stock options granted under the University’s Incentive Plan since
December 31, 2012 is as follows:
 

   Summary of Stock Options Outstanding  

   
Total

Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value ($)(1) 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012    4,229   $ 14.57      

    

 

     

Granted    25   $ 24.97      
Exercised    (459)  $ 12.75      
Forfeited, canceled or expired    (19)  $ 16.21      

    
 

     

Outstanding as of March 31, 2013    3,776   $ 14.85     6.54    $ 39,804  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

Exercisable as of March 31, 2013    2,247   $ 14.23     6.22    $ 25,077  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

Available for issuance as of March 31, 2013    2,233       
    

 

     

 
(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the value of the University’s closing stock price on March 28, 2012 ($25.39) in excess of the exercise price multiplied

by the number of options outstanding or exercisable.

Share-based Compensation Expense

The table below outlines share-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 related to restricted stock and stock
options granted:
 

   2013   2012  
Instructional costs and services   $1,100   $ 825  
Admissions advisory and related    29    35  
Marketing and promotional    49    27  
General and administrative    992    807  

    
 

   
 

Share-based compensation expense included in operating expenses    2,170    1,694  
Tax effect of share-based compensation    (868)   (678) 

    
 

   
 

Share-based compensation expense, net of tax   $1,302   $1,016  
    

 

   

 

9. Regulatory

The University is subject to extensive regulation by federal and state governmental agencies and accrediting bodies. In particular, the Higher
Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”), and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the Department of Education, subject the
University to significant regulatory scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that schools must satisfy in order to participate in the various federal student
financial assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act.

To participate in the Title IV programs, an institution must be authorized to offer its programs of instruction by the relevant agency of the state in
which it is located, accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Department of Education and certified as eligible by the Department of Education. The
Department of Education will certify an institution to participate in the Title IV programs only after the institution has demonstrated compliance with the Higher
Education Act and the Department of Education’s extensive regulations regarding institutional eligibility. An institution must also demonstrate its compliance to
the Department of Education on an ongoing basis. As of March 31, 2013, management believes the University is in compliance with the applicable regulations in
all material respects.

Because the University operates in a highly regulated industry, it, like other industry participants, may be subject from time to time to investigations,
claims of non-compliance, or lawsuits by governmental agencies or third parties, which allege statutory violations, regulatory infractions, or common law causes
of action. While there can be no assurance that regulatory agencies or third parties will not undertake investigations or make claims against the University, or that
such claims, if made, will not have a material adverse effect on the University’s business, results of operations or financial condition, management believes the
University is in compliance with applicable regulations in all material respects.
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In connection with its administration of the Title IV federal student financial aid programs, the Department of Education periodically conducts

program reviews at selected schools that receive Title IV funds. In July 2010, the Department of Education initiated a program review of the University covering
the 2008-2009 and 2009-2010 award years. As part of this program review, a Department of Education program review team conducted a site visit on the
University’s campus in July 2010 and reviewed, and in some cases requested further information regarding, the University’s records, practices and policies
relating to, among other things, financial aid, enrollment, enrollment counselor compensation, program eligibility and other Title IV compliance matters.

While the University never received a formal exit interview, which it had understood to be the typical step prior to the Department of Education’s
issuance of a preliminary program review report, on August 24, 2011, the University received from the Department of Education a written preliminary program
review report that included five findings, two of which involve individual student-specific errors concerning the monitoring of satisfactory academic progress for
two students and the certification of one student’s Federal Family Educational Loan as an unsubsidized Stafford loan rather than a subsidized Stafford loan. The
other three findings are as follows:
 

 

• Incentive compensation issue. During a portion of the period under review, the University had in place a compensation plan for its
enrollment counselors that was designed to comply with the regulatory “safe harbor” in effect during such period that allowed
companies to make adjustments to fixed compensation for enrollment personnel, provided that any such adjustment (i) was not made
more than twice during any twelve month period, and (ii) was not based solely on the number of students recruited, admitted, enrolled,
or awarded financial aid. The plan at issue provided for enrollment counselor performance to be reviewed on a number of non-
enrollment related factors that could account for a substantial portion of any potential base compensation adjustment. The preliminary
program review report does not appear to set forth any definitive finding regarding the plan, but the Department of Education has
requested additional information from the University regarding its enrollment counselor compensation practices and policies in effect
during the period under review. The University continues to believe that the plan at issue, both as designed and as applied, did not base
compensation solely on success in enrolling students in violation of applicable law. We are continuing our efforts to communicate with
the Department of Education to resolve this matter.

 

 

• Gainful employment issue. The preliminary program review report sets forth the Department of Education’s position that the
University’s Bachelor of Arts in Interdisciplinary Studies program was not an eligible program under Title IV because it did not provide
students with training to prepare them for gainful employment in a recognized occupation. This “gainful employment” standard has
been a requirement for Title IV eligibility for programs offered at proprietary institutions of higher education such as the University
although, pursuant to legislation passed in 2008 and effective as of July 1, 2010, this requirement no longer applies to designated liberal
arts programs offered by the University and certain other institutions that have held accreditation by a regional accrediting agency since
a date on or before October 1, 2007 (we have held a regional accreditation since 1968). The University believes that its Interdisciplinary
Studies program, which it first offered in Fall 2007 in response to a request by one of its employer-partners, was an eligible program
under the “gainful employment” standard in effect prior to July 1, 2010. We are continuing our efforts to communicate with the
Department of Education to resolve the matter.

 

 

• Inadequate procedures related to non-passing grades. The preliminary program review report sets forth the Department of Education’s
position that, during the period under review and prior to the time the University converted from a term-based financial aid system to a
non-term, borrower-based financial aid system in mid-2010, the University failed to have an accurate system to determine if students
with non-passing grades for a term had no documented attendance for the term or should have been treated as unofficial withdrawals for
the term, thereby potentially requiring the University to return all or a portion of the Title IV monies previously received with respect to
such students. Although the University is confident in the legal sufficiency of its policies that were in place during the period under
review, it is continuing to make efforts to discuss this finding with the Department of Education. As part of the process of reviewing and
responding to this finding, the Department of Education has requested that the University conduct a further review of student files and
provide additional information to the Department of Education following the completion of such review.

The University has provided responses on these issues as required by the Department of Education and is continuing its efforts to communicate with
the Department of Education to resolve the issues raised in the preliminary program review report. With respect to the issue regarding inadequate procedures
related to non-passing grades in particular, the University recently completed its review of student files for the period from July 1, 2008 to June 30, 2010 in
accordance with the Department of Education’s request and submitted the requested information to the Department of Education. Based on this review, we have
determined that certain Pell grants received by the University for students that later unofficially withdrew should have been returned under applicable return to
Title IV rules as those rules are currently being interpreted by the Department of Education. Although when we make a return of Pell funds the applicable students
are obligated to repay us for the amounts returned, we have decided that we will not seek reimbursement from the applicable students once these Pell returns are
made. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2012, the University reserved $3,450 related to these returns.
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The University is unable, at this time, to conclude whether any additional returns to Title IV will be necessary as a result of the Department of

Education’s review of our student files. Although we are confident in the legal sufficiency of our policies that were in place during the period under review, we
are continuing to make efforts to discuss this finding with the Department of Education. However, if the Department of Education pursues its current
interpretation of the applicable return to Title IV rules, then, after exhausting any administrative appeals available to the University, the University could be
required to return Title IV funds previously received. In this regard, when the University makes a return to Title IV, the student for whom the funds were received
is obligated to repay the University for the amounts returned. Should the University be required by the Department of Education to return these Title IV funds, it
would reserve its rights to seek reimbursement from the applicable students.

The University cannot presently predict whether or if further information requests will be made, how the foregoing issues will be resolved, when the
final program review determination letter will be issued, or when the program review will be closed. At this time, the Department of Education has not specified
the amount of any potential refunds or penalties that it may seek or assess. The University’s policies and procedures are planned and implemented to comply with
the applicable standards and regulations under Title IV and it is committed to resolving any issues of non-compliance identified in the final program review
determination letter and ensuring that it operates in compliance with all Department of Education requirements. If the Department of Education were to make
significant findings of non-compliance in the final program review determination letter, then, after exhausting any administrative appeals available to the
University, it could be required to pay a fine, return Title IV monies previously received, or be subjected to other administrative sanctions. While it cannot
currently predict the final outcome of the Department of Education review, any such final adverse finding could damage the University’s reputation in the
industry and could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations, cash flows and financial position.
 
10. Treasury Stock

On April 25, 2013, the Board of Directors authorized the University to repurchase up to an additional $25,000 ($75,000 total) of common stock,
from time to time, depending on market conditions and other considerations. The Board of Directors also extended the expiration date on the repurchase
authorization to September 30, 2014. Repurchases occur at the University’s discretion. Repurchases may be made in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions, pursuant to the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules. The amount and timing of future share repurchases, if any, will be made as
market and business conditions warrant. Since its approval of the share repurchase plan, the University has purchased 2,625 shares of common stock at an
aggregate cost of $44,205, which includes 215 shares of common stock at an aggregate cost of $5,069 during the three months ended March 31, 2013, which are
recorded at cost in the accompanying March 31, 2013 consolidated balance sheet and statement of stockholders’ equity. At March 31, 2013, there remained
$5,795 available under its previous share repurchase authorization, which totaled $50,000 at March 31, 2013. Shares repurchased in lieu of taxes are not included
in the repurchase plan totals as they were approved in conjunction with the restricted share awards.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
related notes that appear elsewhere in this report.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including Item 2, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains
certain “forward-looking statements,” which include information relating to future events, future financial performance, strategies, expectations, competitive
environment, regulation, and availability of resources. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding: proposed new
programs; statements as to whether regulatory developments or other matters may or may not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations, or liquidity; statements concerning projections, predictions, expectations, estimates, or forecasts as to our business, financial and operational results,
and future economic performance; and statements of management’s goals and objectives and other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical
facts. Words such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “future,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”
“estimates” and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times
at, or by, which such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are
made or management’s good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events, and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such
differences include, but are not limited to:
 

 
•  our failure to comply with the extensive regulatory framework applicable to our industry, including Title IV of the Higher Education Act and

the regulations thereunder, state laws and regulatory requirements, and accrediting commission requirements;
 

 
•  the results of the ongoing program review being conducted by the Department of Education of our compliance with Title IV program

requirements, and possible fines or other administrative sanctions resulting therefrom;
 

 •  the ability of our students to obtain federal Title IV funds, state financial aid, and private financing;
 

 
•  potential damage to our reputation or other adverse effects as a result of negative publicity in the media, in the industry or in connection with

governmental reports or investigations or otherwise, affecting us or other companies in the for-profit postsecondary education sector;
 

 
•  risks associated with changes in applicable federal and state laws and regulations and accrediting commission standards including pending

rulemaking by the Department of Education;
 

 
•  our ability to properly manage risks and challenges associated with potential acquisitions of, or investments in, new businesses, acquisitions

of new properties, or the expansion of our campus to new locations;
 

 •  our ability to hire and train new, and develop and train existing employees and faculty;
 

 •  the pace of growth of our enrollment;
 

 •  our ability to convert prospective students to enrolled students and to retain active students;
 

 
•  our success in updating and expanding the content of existing programs and developing new programs in a cost-effective manner or on a

timely basis;
 

 •  industry competition, including competition for students and for qualified executives and other personnel;
 

 •  risks associated with the competitive environment for marketing our programs;
 

 •  failure on our part to keep up with advances in technology that could enhance the online experience for our students;
 

 
•  the extent to which obligations under our loan agreement, including the need to comply with restrictive and financial covenants and to pay

principal and interest payments, limits our ability to conduct our operations or seek new business opportunities;
 

 •  our ability to manage future growth effectively; and
 

 •  general adverse economic conditions or other developments that affect job prospects in our core disciplines.
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Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ from those discussed in the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those
described in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, as updated in our subsequent reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), including any updates found in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or our other reports on Form 10-Q. You should not
put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made and we assume no
obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions, or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking
information, except to the extent required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn
that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.
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Overview

We are a regionally accredited provider of postsecondary education services focused on offering graduate and undergraduate degree programs in our core
disciplines of education, healthcare, business, and liberal arts. We offer programs online, on ground at our approximately 115 acre traditional campus in Phoenix,
Arizona and onsite at facilities we lease and at facilities owned by third party employers.

At March 31, 2013, we had approximately 53,600 students, an increase of 15.7% over the approximately 46,300 students we had at March 31, 2012. At
March 31, 2013, 86.4% of our students were enrolled in our online programs, and of our online and professional studies students, 42.2% were pursuing master’s
or doctoral degrees. In addition, revenue per student increased between periods as a result of improved retention as well as selective tuition price increases for
students in our online and professional studies programs of up to 5.9%, depending on the program, with an estimated blended rate increase of 2.5% for our 2012-
13 academic year, as compared to selective tuition price increases for students in our online and professional studies programs of up to 6.5%, depending on the
program, with a blended rate increase of 3.2% for the prior academic year. Tuition for our traditional ground programs had no increase for our 2012-13 or 2011-
12 academic years. Tuition increases have not historically been, and may not in the future be, consistent across our programs due to market conditions and
differences in operating costs of individual programs. In fact it is our current intention to not increase tuition for our online, professional studies and traditional
programs for our 2013-14 academic year. This reflects a concerted effort to control tuition pricing for students so that debt levels assumed by our students are
reasonable.

The following is a summary of our student enrollment at March 31, 2013 and 2012 (which included less than 810 students pursuing non-degree certificates in
each period) by degree type and by instructional delivery method:
 

   2013   2012  
   # of Students   % of Total  # of Students   % of Total 
Graduate degrees    20,217     37.7%   18,054     39.0% 
Undergraduate degree    33,342     62.3%   28,224     61.0% 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total    53,559     100.0%   46,278     100.0% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   2013   2012  
   # of Students   % of Total  # of Students   % of Total 
Online    46,258     86.4%   41,229     89.1% 
Ground    7,301     13.6%   5,049     10.9% 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total    53,559     100.0%   46,278     100.0% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

 
 Enrollment at March 31, 2013 and 2012 represents individual students who attended a course during the last two months of the calendar quarter.
 Includes 3,329 and 2,221 students pursuing doctoral degrees at March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
 As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, 42.2% and 42.5%, respectively, of our online and professional studies students were pursuing graduate degrees.
 Includes both our traditional on-campus ground students, as well as our professional studies students.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our critical accounting policies are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. During the three months
ended March 31, 2013, there have been no significant changes in our critical accounting policies.

Financial Statement Presentation

Effective during the first quarter of 2013, the University made changes in its presentation of operating expenses and reclassified prior periods to conform to
the current presentation. The University determined that these changes would provide more meaningful information and are consistent with changes recently
made by a number of other regionally accredited for-profit universities. Additionally, this new presentation better classifies its costs consistently with the
operational changes the University has made related to the roles and responsibilities of its admissions personnel. Specifically the University has separated
admissions advisory and related expenses from advertising, and marketing and promotional expenses as the admissions personnel role has evolved into one in
which a substantial amount of their time is spent educating students not only during the admissions process but also through matriculation and during their
program of study.
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Instructional Costs and Services

Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery of the University’s educational programs. This expense
category includes salaries, benefits and share-based compensation for full-time and adjunct faculty and administrative personnel, information technology costs,
bad debt expense, curriculum and new program development costs (which are expensed as incurred) and costs associated with other support groups that provide
services directly to the students. This category also includes an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent, and occupancy costs attributable to the provision of
educational services, primarily at the University’s Phoenix, Arizona campus.

Admissions Advisory and Related

The University previously reported costs related to our admissions advisory personnel in selling and promotional on our Consolidated Income Statement.
Effective during the first quarter of 2013, the University began separating admissions advisory and related expenses from advertising, and marketing and
promotional expenses on our Consolidated Income Statement as “admissions advisory and related.” Based on the operational changes discussed above, the
University believes the disaggregation of admissions personnel and related costs from advertising, and marketing and promotional expenses provides more
meaningful information and is consistent with changes recently made by a number of other regionally accredited for-profit universities. This expense category
includes salaries and benefits for admissions advisory personnel and, revenue share expense as well as an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent and
occupancy costs attributable to the admissions advisory personnel.

Advertising

As discussed above the University previously reported advertising costs in selling and promotional on our Consolidated Income Statement. Effective
during the first quarter of 2013, the University began separating advertising expenses from admissions advisory and related expenses, and marketing and
promotional expenses on our Consolidated Income Statement as “advertising.” Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

Marketing and Promotional

The University previously reported costs related to our marketing and promotional expenses in selling and promotional on our Consolidated Income
Statement. Effective during the first quarter of 2013, the University began separating marketing and promotional expenses from admissions advisory and related
expenses and advertising expenses on our Consolidated Income Statement as “marketing and promotional.” This expense category includes salaries, benefits and
share-based compensation for marketing personnel, and other promotional expenses. This category also includes an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent,
and occupancy costs attributable to marketing and promotional activities. Marketing and promotional costs are expensed as incurred.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include salaries, benefits and share-based compensation of employees engaged in corporate management, finance,
human resources, compliance, and other corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include an allocation of depreciation, amortization, rent,
and occupancy costs attributable to the departments providing general and administrative functions.

We have reclassified our operating expenses for prior periods to conform to the above disaggregation and revisions to our presentation. There were no
changes to total operating expenses or operating income as a result of these reclassifications.

Key Trends, Developments and Challenges

The key trends, developments and challenges facing the University are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2012. Except as noted below, during the three months ended March 31, 2013, there have been no significant changes in these trends. See Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Key Trends, Developments and Challenges” in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, which is incorporated herein by reference. Recent developments and challenges include:

Regulatory Environment

Congressional Action and Financial Aid Funding

On January 1, 2013, Congress passed the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (ATRA), delaying sequestration of many federal programs until March 1, 2013,
including a potential 7.6% cut to campus-based aid programs such as Federal Supplemental Opportunity Grant (FSEOG). Additionally, ATRA extended the
American Opportunity Tax Credit for five years, temporarily extended deductions for qualified tuition and related educational expenses for two years and
permanently extended the deduction for student loan interest.
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Congress did not take the additional measures necessary to avoid sequestration, which took effect on March 1, 2013. While sequestration has no impact on 2012-
2013 FSEOG funds, a reduction of the FSEOG allocation is anticipated for all participating institutions for the 2013-2014 award year, which begins on July 1,
2013. The Pell Grant program is specifically exempted for one year from the effects of sequestration. For the 2012-2013 and 2013-2014 award years, Pell Grant
amounts remain in effect without any changes. It is unknown whether Congress will make changes to the Pell Grant for later award years.

Sequestration also imposed an immediate increase to the loan fee rate charged to borrowers utilizing the Federal Direct Loan program. In particular, Direct
Subsidized or Direct Unsubsidized Loan fees will increase from 1.0 percent of the principal amount of the loan to 1.051 percent, while Direct PLUS Loan fees for
parent borrowers will increase from 4.0 percent to 4.204 percent

On April 5, 2013, the Department of Education (ED) determined that the increased loan fee percentages must be applied to any loan disbursement for a loan
where the first disbursement of the loan will be made on or after July 1, 2013. Loans issued prior to July 1, 2013 have been advised to continue to award and
disburse Direct Loans using the pre-sequester loan fee amounts. When implemented in July 1, 2013, we anticipate that our students will cover this nominal loss of
loan proceeds with other resources.

Various legislative proposals have been recently introduced in Congress:
 

 

•  On January 23, 2013, the Protecting Our Students and Taxpayers Act was introduced in the U.S. Senate, seeking to amend the 90/10 Rule. If adopted,
this legislation would reduce the 90% threshold to the pre-1998 level of 85%, cause tuition revenues derived from military benefit programs to be
included in the 85% portion under the rule instead of the non-federal 10% portion and impose Title IV ineligibility after one year of noncompliance
rather than two.

 

 
•  Also on January 23, 2013, the Know Before You Owe Private Student Loan Act of 2013 was reintroduced and referred to committee. The bill seeks

to further regulate student loan advisement.
 

 
•  On January 24, 2013, the “Protecting Financial Aid for Students and Taxpayers Act” was introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives. This bill

would prohibit institutions of higher education from using federal education funds in marketing and recruiting. This bill was introduced in the Senate
on March 12, 2013.

 

 
•  On February 5, 2013, the America Works Act was referred to a Congressional committee. This bill would encourage certain Federal job training and

career education funding programs, such as the Workforce Investment Act and the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education Act, to give
priority to programs that lead to an industry-recognized and nationally portable postsecondary credential.

 

 

•  On February 28, 2013, the Students First Act of 2013 was referred to a Congressional committee. This bill seeks to amend the Higher Education Act
of 1965, by modifying and formalizing program review requirements, establishing additional criteria for ED to perform a mandatory school review.
In addition, this bill also establishes higher penalties for instances of regulatory noncompliance, including the automatic termination of Title IV
eligibility.

This Congressional activity could result in the enactment of more stringent legislation by Congress, further rulemakings affecting participation in Title IV
Programs and other governmental actions, increasing regulation of the for-profit sector. Action by Congress may also increase our administrative costs and
require us to modify our practices in order for our institution to comply with Title IV Program requirements. We will continue to monitor Congressional activity
for any impact to our business.

Announcement of New Rulemaking by the U.S. Department of Education. On April 15, 2013 the Department announced its intent to establish a negotiated
rulemaking committee covering the following areas: Title IV Federal Student Aid; changes to the definition of “adverse credit” for borrowers in the Federal
Direct PLUS Loan program; state authorization pertaining to distance and correspondence education; state authorization for foreign locations of institutions;
clock-to-credit hour conversions; gainful employment; and changes made to the Violence Against Women Act. The Department announced it will hold three
public hearings in May 2013 for interested parties to provide comments on these topics with negotiations beginning in September 2013. The Department
indicated that this proposed rulemaking would be part of a series of rulemakings to achieve a long-term agenda in higher education focused on: access,
affordability, academic quality and completion. Any rulemaking committees that are established and begin negotiations in September 2013 will not likely meet
the November 1, 2013 publication deadline for a July 1, 2014 effective date. Therefore, the earliest effective date for regulations coming out of this round of
rulemaking would be July 1, 2015
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Industry-related Judicial Outcomes

On March 19, 2013, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia denied the Department of Education’s motion for the court to amend its earlier judgment
to vacate certain rules related to gainful employment. The Department of Education had sought a reinstatement of the “debt measures” to determine whether
programs are in fact preparing their students for gainful employment, which had been invalidated in the summer of 2012. Those measures required detailed data
reporting by schools for use by the Department of Education to examine the income earned and debt repaid by students, and required institutions to meet at least
one of three benchmarks in order to remain eligible to receive federal student aid. The court upheld the decision to vacate those requirements. The Department of
Education officials are currently evaluating the court’s decision and determining next steps, if any, to be taken. Because of the significance of this regulation, and
the basis on which the District Court made its decision, it is possible the Department of Education will appeal the full decision to the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia Circuit.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth income statement data as a percentage of net revenue for each of the periods indicated:
 

   Three Months Ended March 31,  
   2013   2012  
Net revenue    100.0%   100.0% 
Operating expenses    

Instructional costs and services    42.2    43.4  
Admissions advisory and related    16.2    17.1  
Advertising    11.2    11.6  
Marketing and promotional    1.0    0.8  
General and administrative    5.7    6.4  

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    76.3    79.3  
    

 
   

 

Operating income    23.7    20.7  
Interest expense    (0.5)   (0.2) 
Interest income and other income    1.5    0.0  

    
 

   
 

Income before income taxes    24.7    20.5  
Income tax expense    10.0    8.1  

    
 

   
 

Net income    14.7    12.4  
    

 

   

 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2013 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Net revenue. Our net revenue for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was $142.0 million, an increase of $24.9 million, or 21.3%, as compared to net revenue
of $117.1 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This increase was primarily due to an increase in ground and online enrollment and, to a lesser extent,
increases in the average tuition per student as a result of improved retention, selective tuition price increases and an increase in room and board and other student
fees, partially offset by an increase in institutional scholarships. End-of-period enrollment increased 15.7% between March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, as
ground enrollment increased 44.6%, and online enrollment increased 12.2% over the prior year. We attribute the significant growth in our ground enrollment
between years to our increasing brand recognition and the value proposition that our ground traditional campus affords to traditional-aged students and their
parents. After scholarships, our ground traditional students pay an amount for tuition, room, board, and fees often half to a third of what it costs to attend a
private, traditional university in another state and an amount comparable to what it costs to attend the public universities in the state of Arizona as an in-state
student. We are anticipating increased pressure on new and continuing online enrollments due primarily to increased competition for students from traditional
colleges and universities as such institutions, including those with well-established reputations for excellence, increasingly seek to provide alternative learning
modalities.

Instructional costs and services expenses. Our instructional costs and services expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $60.0 million, an
increase of $9.2 million, or 18.0%, as compared to instructional costs and services expenses of $50.8 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This increase
was primarily due to increases in employee compensation and related expenses, faculty compensation, instructional supplies, depreciation and amortization, bad
debt expense and other instructional compensation and related expenses, of $3.0 million, $1.9 million, $1.3 million, $1.0 million, $0.8 million and $1.2 million,
respectively. The increase in employee compensation and related expenses and faculty compensation are primarily due to the increase in the number of staff to
support the increasing number of students attending the University. In addition, we have incurred an increase in medical and other benefit costs between years.
The increase in depreciation and amortization is the result of us placing into service two additional dormitories, an Arts and Sciences classroom building, and a
parking garage for our ground traditional campus in the Fall of 2012. The increase in instructional supplies is primarily due to increased licensing fees related to
educational resources, increased food costs due to increased food revenues and miscellaneous costs associated with curriculum and the continued development of
new and enhanced innovative educational tools and new educational programs. Our instructional costs and services expenses as a percentage of net revenues
decreased by 1.2% to 42.2% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013, as compared to 43.4% for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 primarily due to our ability to
leverage our employees and the fixed costs structure of our campus-based facilities and ground faculty across an increasing revenue base. Bad debt expense was
at 3.5% of net revenues in both the first quarter of 2013 and 2012.
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Admissions advisory and related expenses. Our admissions advisory and related expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $23.0 million, an
increase of $3.0 million, or 15.0%, as compared to admissions advisory and related expenses of $20.0 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This increase
is primarily the result of increases in employee compensation and revenue share expense of $2.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The increase in employee
compensation and related expenses is primarily due to increased headcount and an increase in medical and other benefit costs between years. Our admissions
advisory and related expenses decreased 0.9% to 16.2% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013, from 17.1% for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 primarily due to
our ability to leverage our employees across an increasing revenue base.

Advertising expenses. Our advertising expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $15.9 million, an increase of $2.3 million, or 16.8%, as
compared to advertising expenses of $13.6 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This increase is primarily the result of increased brand advertising
focused on the southwest region. Our advertising expenses as a percentage of net revenue decreased by 0.4% to 11.2% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013,
from 11.6% for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

Marketing and promotional expenses. Our marketing and promotional expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $1.4 million, an increase of
$0.5 million, or 54.5%, as compared to marketing and promotional expenses of $0.9 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This increase is primarily the
result of increases in employee compensation and other promotional activities of $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively. Our marketing and promotional
expenses as a percentage of net revenue increased by 0.2% to 1.0% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013, from 0.8% for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

General and administrative expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $8.1 million, an increase of $0.6
million, or 6.7%, as compared to general and administrative expenses of $7.5 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This increase was primarily due to
increases in employee compensation and related expenses of $0.5 million due primarily to increased headcount to support our increasing number of students and
increased medical and other benefit costs. Our general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenue decreased by 0.7% to 5.7% for the quarter
ended March 31, 2013, from 6.4% for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. Our costs as a percentage of revenue declined due to our ability to leverage the fixed
costs structure of our general and administrative expenses across an increasing revenue base.

Interest expense. Interest expense for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $0.7 million, an increase of $0.5 million, as compared to interest expense of
$0.2 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2013. This increase was primarily due to the expansion of our credit facility in December 2012.

Interest income and other income. Interest income and other income for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 were $2.2 million, an increase of $2.2 million, as
compared to nil in the quarter ended March 31, 2012. The increase was primarily due to the proceeds received from settlement of the note receivable in the first
quarter of 2013, which resulted in a $2.2 million gain for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

Income tax expense. Income tax expense for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was $14.2 million, an increase of $4.7 million, or 49.0%, as compared to
income tax expense of $9.5 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012. Our effective tax rate was 40.4% during the first quarter of 2013 compared to 39.7%
during the first quarter of 2012. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to non-recurring tax items.

Net income. Our net income for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was $20.9 million, an increase of $6.4 million, as compared to $14.5 million for the
quarter ended March 31, 2012, due to the factors discussed above.

Seasonality

Our net revenue and operating results normally fluctuate as a result of seasonal variations in our business, principally due to changes in enrollment. Student
population varies as a result of new enrollments, graduations, and student attrition. The majority of our traditional ground students do not attend courses during
the summer months (May through August), which affects our results for our second and third fiscal quarters. Since a significant amount of our campus costs are
fixed, the lower revenue resulting from the decreased ground student enrollment has historically contributed to lower operating margins during those periods. As
we increased the relative proportion of our online students during the past few years, this summer effect lessened. However, it is our intent to continue to increase
the number of ground traditional students during the next few years. Thus, we expect this summer effect to become more pronounced in future years. Partially
offsetting this summer effect in the third quarter has been the sequential quarterly increase in enrollments that has occurred as a result of the traditional fall school
start. This increase in enrollments also has occurred in the first quarter, corresponding to calendar year matriculation. In addition, we typically experience higher
net revenue in the fourth quarter due to its overlap with the semester encompassing the traditional fall school start and in the first quarter due to its overlap with
the first semester of the calendar year. A portion of our expenses do not vary proportionately with these fluctuations in net revenue, resulting in higher operating
income in the first and fourth quarters relative to other quarters. We expect quarterly fluctuation in operating results to continue as a result of these seasonal
patterns.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity. We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 primarily through cash
provided by operating activities. Our unrestricted cash and cash equivalents were $127.7 million and $105.1 million at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively. Our restricted cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 were $49.9 million and $56.2 million, respectively.

Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we believe that our cash flow from operations and other sources of liquidity, including
cash and cash equivalents and our revolving line of credit, will provide adequate funds for ongoing operations, planned capital expenditures, and working capital
requirements for at least the next 24 months. No amounts are borrowed on the $50.0 million revolving line of credit as of March 31, 2013.

Share Repurchase Program

On April 25, 2013, our Board of Directors authorized the University to repurchase up to an additional $25.0 million ($75.0 million total) of common stock,
from time to time, depending on market conditions and other considerations. The Board of Directors also extended the expiration date on the repurchase
authorization to September 30, 2014. Repurchases occur at the University’s discretion.

Under our share purchase authorization, we may purchase shares in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, pursuant to the applicable
Securities and Exchange Commission Rules. The amount and timing of future share repurchases, if any, will be made as market and business conditions warrant.

Between the approval of the initial share repurchase plan and March 31, 2013, the University has purchased 2,624,977 shares of common shock shares at
an aggregate cost of $44.2 million which includes 215,187 shares of common stock during the three months ended March 31, 2013 at an aggregate cost of $5.1
million. At March 31, 2013, there remains $5.8 million available under our previous share repurchase authorization, which totaled $50.0 million at March 31,
2013.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $31.7 million as compared to $50.8 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2012. The decrease in cash generated from operating activities between the three months ended March 31, 2012 and the
three months ended March 31, 2013 is primarily due to the timing of income tax and employee related payments.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $10.8 million and $16.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Our cash used in investing activities was primarily related to the purchase of property and equipment and short-term investments, partially offset by
proceeds received from the settlement of a note receivable. Capital expenditures were $14.7 million and $16.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively. In 2013, capital expenditures primarily consisted of ground campus building projects such as the construction costs of two additional
dormitories and an expansion of our food services and library to support our traditional student enrollment as well as purchases of computer equipment, other
internal use software projects and furniture and equipment to support our increasing employee headcount. In 2012, capital expenditures primarily consisted of
construction costs associated with two additional dormitories, an Arts and Science classroom building, a remodel of our student union and a parking garage as
well as purchases of computer equipment, other internal use software projects and furniture and equipment.

Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.7 million and $1.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. During the first three months of 2013 proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $5.9 million and excess tax benefits from share-based
compensation of $3.5 million were partially offset by $6.0 million used to purchase treasury stock in accordance with the University’s share repurchase program
and principal payments on notes payable and capital leases totaled $1.7 million. During the first three months of 2012 proceeds from the exercise of stock options
of $2.3 million were partially offset by principal payments on notes payable and capital lease obligations of $0.8 million.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 2013, the aggregate amounts of our significant contractual obligations and commitments with definitive
payment terms due in each of the periods presented (in millions):
 
       Payments Due by Period  

   Total    

Less than
1 Year 

(1)    2-3 Years   4-5 Years   
More than

5 Years  
Long term notes payable   $ 98.1    $ 5.0    $ 13.2    $ 13.3    $ 66.6  
Capital lease obligations    0.7     0.1     0.2     0.4     0.0  
Purchase obligations(2)    44.9     37.2     6.4     1.3     0.0  
Operating lease obligations    36.5     4.8     11.9     9.3     10.5  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total contractual obligations   $180.2    $ 47.1    $ 31.7    $ 24.3    $ 77.1  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Less than one year represents expected expenditures from April 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013.
(2) The purchase obligation amounts include expected spending by period under contracts that were in effect at March 31, 2013.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Impact of inflation. We believe that inflation has not had a material impact on our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2013 or 2012.
There can be no assurance that future inflation will not have an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

Market risk. On June 30, 2009 and February 27, 2013, respectively, we entered into an interest rate swap and an interest rate corridor to manage our 30 Day
LIBOR interest exposure from the variable rate debt we incurred in connection with the repurchase of shares of our common stock and the land and buildings that
comprise our ground campus, which debt matures in December 2019. The corridor instrument, which hedges variable interest rate risk starting March 1, 2013
through December 20, 2019 with a notional amount of $88.8 million as of March 31, 2013, permits us to hedge our interest rate risk at several thresholds. Under
this arrangement, in addition to the credit spread we will pay variable interest rates based on the 30 Day LIBOR rates monthly until that index reaches 1.5%. If 30
Day LIBOR is equal to 1.5% through 3.0%, we will continue to pay 1.5%. If 30 Day LIBOR exceeds 3.0%, we will pay actual 30 Day LIBOR less 1.5%. The
interest rate swap commenced on May 1, 2010, continues each month thereafter until April 30, 2014, and has a notional amount of $9.6 million as of March 31,
2013. Under this arrangement, we will receive 30 Day LIBOR and pay 3.245% fixed rate on the amortizing notional amount plus the credit spread.

Except with respect to the foregoing, we have no derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments. We invest cash in excess of current
operating requirements in short-term certificates of deposit and money market instruments in multiple financial institutions.

Interest rate risk. We manage interest rate risk by investing excess funds in cash equivalents and A rated marketable securities bearing variable interest
rates, which are tied to various market indices. Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates or we may suffer
losses in principal if we are forced to sell securities that have declined in market value due to changes in interest rates. At March 31, 2013, a 10% increase or
decrease in interest rates would not have a material impact on our future earnings, fair values, or cash flows. For information regarding our variable rate debt, see
“Market risk” above.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective, as of March 31, 2013, in ensuring that material information relating to us required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by an issuer in reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including its principal executive
officer or officers and principal financial officer or officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Based on an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (who is our principal
executive officer) and our Chief Financial Officer (who is our principal financial officer), there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting
identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this report
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in the “Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

On April 25, 2013, our Board of Directors authorized the University to repurchase up to an additional $25.0 million ($75.0 million) total) of common
stock, from time to time, depending on market conditions and other considerations. The Board of Directors also extended the expiration date on the repurchase
authorization to September 30, 2014. Repurchases occur at the University’s discretion. Repurchases may be made in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions, pursuant to the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules. The amount and timing of future share repurchases, if any, will be made as
market and business conditions warrant. During the quarter ended March 31, 2013, we repurchased 215,187 shares of our common stock at an aggregate cost of
$5.1 million. At March 31, 2013, there remains $5.8 million available under our previous share repurchase authorization, which totaled $50.0 million at
March 31, 2013.

The following table sets forth our share repurchases of common stock during each period in the first quarter of fiscal 2013:
 

Period   
Total Number of

Shares Purchased   

Average
Price Paid
Per Share    

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced

Program    

Maximum Dollar
Value of Shares

That May Yet Be
Purchased Under

the Program  
January 1, 2013 – January 31, 2013    64,136     22.74     64,136    $ 9,406,000  
February 1, 2013 – February 28, 2013    55,000     24.38     55,000    $ 8,065,000  
March 1, 2013 – March 31, 2013    96,051     23.63     96,051    $ 5,795,000  
Total    215,187     23.56     215,187    $ 5,795,000  

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits
 
Number  Description   Method of Filing
3.1

  

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

  

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 6 to the
University’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
November 12, 2008.

3.2
  

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws.
  

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the University’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 2, 2010.

4.1

  

Specimen of Stock Certificate.

  

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the
University’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 29, 2008.

4.2

  

Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated September
17, 2008, by and among Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and the other
parties named therein.   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 2 to the
University’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 29, 2008.

10.1
  

Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 7, 2012, by and
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Brian M. Roberts†   

Filed herewith

31.1

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.   

Filed herewith.

31.2

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.   

Filed herewith.

32.1

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. ††   

Filed herewith.

32.2

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. ††   

Filed herewith.

 
† Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
†† This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of

the Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filings of the University, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of
any general incorporation language in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

  GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.

Date: May 7, 2013    By: /s/ Daniel E. Bachus                                                                      

   

Daniel E. Bachus
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 6 to the
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November 12, 2008.

3.2
  

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws.
  

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the University’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 2, 2010.

4.1

  

Specimen of Stock Certificate.

  

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the
University’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 29, 2008.

4.2

  

Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement, dated September
17, 2008, by and among Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and the other
parties named therein.   

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 2 to the
University’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
September 29, 2008.

10.1
  

Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 7, 2012, by and
between Grand Canyon Education, Inc. and Brian M. Roberts†   

Filed herewith.

31.1

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.   

Filed herewith.

31.2

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.   

Filed herewith.

32.1

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. ††   

Filed herewith.

32.2

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. ††   

Filed herewith.

 
† Indicates a management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
†† This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of

the Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filings of the University, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of
any general incorporation language in such filing.
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Exhibit 10.1

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
(Brian Roberts)

This Executive Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into on August 16, 2012 and is effective as of July 30, 2012 (the “Effective Date”),
by and between Grand Canyon Education, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Brian Roberts (“Executive”).

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. Employment. The Company desires to continue to employ Executive, and Executive desires to continue such employment, upon the terms and
conditions set forth herein.

2. Duties.

2.1 Position. Executive is employed as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary and shall have the duties and responsibilities
reasonably assigned to him from time to time by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). Executive shall perform faithfully and diligently all duties
assigned to Executive. The Company reserves the right to modify Executive’s position and duties at any time in its sole and absolute discretion, except that any
material diminution in Executive’s duties shall be subject to Section 7.3(ii).

2.2 Best Efforts/Full-time. Executive will expend Executive’s best efforts on behalf of the Company, and will abide by all policies and decisions
made by the Company, as well as all applicable federal, state and local laws, regulations or ordinances. Executive will act in the best interest of the Company at
all times. Executive shall devote Executive’s full business time and efforts to the performance of Executive’s assigned duties for the Company, unless Executive
notifies the CEO in advance of Executive’s intent to engage in other paid work and receives the CEO’s express written consent to do so. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Executive will be permitted to serve as an outside director on the board of directors for corporate, civic, nonprofit or charitable entities, so long as
Executive obtains the consent of the CEO and provided such entities are not competitive with the Company and subject to the provisions of Section 9.

2.3 Work Location. Executive’s principal place of work shall be located in Phoenix, Arizona, or such other location as the Company may direct from
time to time.

3. Term.

3.1 Initial Term. The employment relationship pursuant to this Agreement shall be for an initial term commencing on the Effective Date and
continuing for a period of four (4) years following such date (the “Initial Term”), unless sooner terminated in accordance with Section 7.

3.2 Renewal. Upon expiration of the Initial Term and each Renewal Term, this Agreement will automatically renew for subsequent one (1) year
terms (each a “Renewal Term”) unless either party provides thirty (30) days’ advance written notice to the other that the Company or Executive does not wish to
renew the Agreement for a subsequent Renewal Term. In the event either party gives notice of nonrenewal pursuant to this Section 3.2, this Agreement will expire
at the end of the then current term. The Initial Term and each subsequent Renewal Term are referred to collectively as the “Term”.
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4. Compensation.

4.1 Base Salary. As compensation for Executive’s performance of Executive’s duties hereunder, effective beginning on the Effective Date the
Company shall pay to Executive an initial Base Salary at the rate of Two Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($225,000) per year, payable in accordance
with the normal payroll practices of the Company, less required deductions for state and federal withholding tax, social security and all other employment taxes
and payroll deductions. Executive’s Base Salary will be reviewed annually and adjustments, if any, will be made at that time. In the event Executive’s
employment under this Agreement is terminated by either party, for any reason, Executive will earn the Base Salary prorated to the date of termination, except as
otherwise set forth herein.

4.2 Incentive Compensation. Executive will be eligible to earn incentive compensation in the form of a semi-annual bonus for each fiscal year of the
Company, to be awarded under the Company’s cash incentive plan as then in effect, with a target amount equal to Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000) per
semi-annual period (the “Target Bonus”). Executive’s Target Bonus will be reviewed annually and adjustments, if any, will be made at that time. The CEO will
determine the actual amount of the bonus earned by Executive for any semi-annual period, which may be more or less than the Target Bonus, and will base such
determination upon both the Company’s achievement of overall performance metrics for the year and Executive’s achievement of individual performance metrics
as agreed upon by the CEO and Executive. Earned bonus amounts, if any, shall be paid within two and one-half months following the end of each semi-annual
period.

4.3 Equity Awards. Executive will be eligible to receive stock, option or other equity awards (each, an “Equity Award”) under the Company’s
applicable equity incentive plan as then in effect (the “Plan”), as determined by the Compensation Committee. Any such Equity Award will be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Plan and an applicable form of agreement for such Equity Award specified by the Compensation Committee, which Executive will be
required to sign as a condition of retaining the Equity Award.

5. Customary Fringe Benefits. Executive will be eligible for all customary and usual fringe benefits generally available to senior management of the
Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s benefit plan documents. The Company reserves the right to change or eliminate fringe benefits on
a prospective basis, at any time, effective upon notice to Executive.

6. Business Expenses. Executive will be reimbursed for all reasonable, out-of-pocket business expenses incurred in the performance of Executive’s duties
on behalf of the Company. To obtain reimbursement, expenses must be submitted promptly with appropriate supporting documentation and will be reimbursed in
accordance with the Company’s policies. Any reimbursement Executive is entitled to receive shall (a) be paid no later than the last day of Executive’s tax year
following the tax year in which the expense was incurred, (b) not affect or be affected by any other expenses that are eligible for reimbursement in any other tax
year of Executive, and (c) not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.
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7. Termination of Executive’s Employment.

7.1 Termination for Cause by Company. Although the Company anticipates the continuation of a mutually rewarding employment relationship with
Executive, the Company may terminate Executive’s employment immediately at any time for Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” is defined as:
(a) acts or omissions constituting gross negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct on the part of Executive with respect to Executive’s obligations or
otherwise relating to the business of the Company; (b) Executive’s material breach of this Agreement, including, without limitation, any breach of Section 8,
Section 9 or Section 11; (c) Executive’s breach of the Company’s Employee Nondisclosure and Assignment Agreement (the “Nondisclosure Agreement”);
(d) Executive’s conviction or entry of a plea of nolo contendere for fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, or any felony or crime of moral turpitude;
(e) Executive’s inability to perform the essential functions of Executive’s position, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a mental or physical
disability; (f) Executive’s willful neglect of duties as determined in the sole and exclusive discretion of the CEO, provided that Executive has received written
notice of the action or omission giving rise to such determination and has failed to remedy such situation to the satisfaction of the CEO within thirty (30) days
following receipt of such written notice, unless Executive’s action or omission is not subject to cure, in which case no such notice shall be required, or
(g) Executive’s death. In the event Executive’s employment is terminated in accordance with this Section 7.1, Executive shall be entitled to receive only
Executive’s Base Salary then in effect, prorated to the date of Executive’s termination of employment with the Company (the “Termination Date”), and all
amounts and benefits earned or incurred pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 through the Termination Date. All other Company obligations to Executive pursuant to this
Agreement will be automatically terminated and completely extinguished as of the Termination Date, but will be subject to the surviving provisions of this
Agreement set forth in Section 13.8. Executive will not be entitled to receive the Severance Package described in Section 7.2.

7.2 Termination Without Cause by Company. The Company may terminate Executive’s employment under this Agreement without Cause at any
time upon written notice to Executive. In the event of such termination, Executive will receive Executive’s Base Salary then in effect, prorated to the Termination
Date, and all amounts and benefits earned or incurred pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 through the Termination Date. In addition, subject to Sections 7.7 and 7.9,
Executive will be entitled to receive a “Severance Package” that shall consist of:

(a) severance in an amount equal to the sum of six (6) months of Executive’s Base Salary then in effect on the Termination Date, with the
total of such amount to be payable over six (6) months in equal installments in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll cycle, commencing with the first
payroll date occurring on or after the 60th day following the Termination Date; and

(b) payment by the Company of the premiums required to continue Executive’s group health care coverage under the applicable provisions
of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA”) for a period (the “COBRA Payment Period”) ending on the earlier of (i) six
(6) months following the Termination Date or (ii) the date on which Executive becomes eligible for health coverage through another employer, provided in any
event that Executive timely elects to continue and remains eligible for these benefits under COBRA.
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Notwithstanding Section 7.2(b), if the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that the payment of the COBRA premiums would result in a violation of the
nondiscrimination rules of Section 105(h)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or any statute or regulation of similar effect
(including but not limited to the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the 2010 Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act), then
in lieu of providing the COBRA premiums, the Company, in its sole discretion, may elect to instead pay Executive on the first day of each month of the COBRA
Payment Period, a fully taxable cash payment equal to the COBRA premiums for that month, subject to applicable tax withholdings (such amount, the “Special
Severance Payment,” which shall be treated as part of the Severance Package), for the remainder of the COBRA Payment Period. Executive may, but is not
obligated to, use such Special Severance Payment toward the cost of COBRA premiums. All other Company obligations to Executive will be automatically
terminated and completely extinguished, but will be subject to the surviving provisions of this Agreement set forth in Section 13.8.

7.3 Voluntary Resignation by Executive for Good Reason. Executive may voluntarily resign Executive’s position with the Company for Good
Reason at any time on thirty (30) days’ advance written notice to the Company. In the event of Executive’s resignation for Good Reason, Executive will be
entitled to receive Executive’s Base Salary then in effect, prorated to the Termination Date, and all amounts and benefits earned or incurred pursuant to Sections 5
and 6 through the Termination Date. In addition, subject to Sections 7.7 and 7.9, Executive will be entitled to receive the Severance Package described in
Section 7.2. All other Company obligations to Executive pursuant to this Agreement will be automatically terminated and completely extinguished, but will be
subject to the surviving provisions of this Agreement set forth in Section 13.8. Executive will be deemed to have resigned for Good Reason if Executive
voluntarily terminates his employment with the Company within ninety (90) days following the first occurrence of a condition constituting Good Reason. “Good
Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following conditions without Executive’s written consent, which condition(s) remain(s) in effect thirty (30) days after
Executive provides written notice to the Company of such condition(s): (i) a material reduction in Executive’s Base Salary as then in effect prior to such
reduction, other than as part of a salary reduction program among similar management employees, (ii) a material diminution in Executive’s authority, duties or
responsibilities as an employee of the Company as they existed prior to such change, or (iii) a relocation of Executive’s principal place of work which increases
Executive’s one-way commute distance by more than fifty (50) miles. Executive will be deemed to have given consent to any condition(s) described in this
Section 7.3 if Executive does not provide written notice to the Company of his intent to exercise his rights pursuant to this Section within thirty (30) days
following the first occurrence of such condition(s).

7.4 Voluntary Resignation by Executive Without Good Reason. Executive may voluntarily resign Executive’s position with the Company without
Good Reason at any time on thirty (30) days’ advance written notice to the Company. In the event of Executive’s resignation without Good Reason, Executive
will be entitled to receive only Executive’s Base Salary then in effect, prorated to the Termination Date, and all amounts and benefits earned or incurred pursuant
to Sections 5 and 6 through the Termination Date. All other Company obligations to Executive pursuant to this Agreement will be automatically terminated and
completely extinguished. Executive will not be entitled to receive the Severance Package described in Section 7.2, but will be subject to the surviving provisions
of this Agreement set forth in Section 13.8.
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7.5 Termination After a Change in Control.

(a) Severance Payment; Equity Award Acceleration. If, upon or within twelve (12) months after a Change in Control (as that term is defined
below), Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (as defined in Section 7.1) or Executive resigns for Good Reason (as defined
in Section 7.3), then Executive shall be entitled to receive Executive’s Base Salary then in effect, prorated to the Termination Date, and all amounts and benefits
earned or incurred pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 through the Termination Date. In addition, subject to Sections 7.7 and 7.9, Executive will be entitled to receive
(i) the Severance Package described in Section 7.2 and (ii) to the extent not yet vested, but subject to the terms of any agreement governing any such Equity
Award, any outstanding Equity Awards granted to Executive by the Company shall vest in full as of the Termination Date. All other Company obligations to
Executive pursuant to this Agreement will be automatically terminated and completely extinguished as of the Termination Date, but will be subject to the
surviving provisions of this Agreement set forth in Section 13.8.

(b) Parachute Payments.

(i) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if any payment or benefit Executive would receive pursuant to
this Agreement or otherwise (collectively, the “Payments”) would constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and, but for
this sentence, would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or any similar or successor provision (the “Excise Tax”), then the aggregate
amount of the Payments will be either (i) the largest portion of the Payments that would result in no portion of the Payments (after reduction) being subject to the
Excise Tax or (ii) the entire Payments, whichever amount after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the
Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate, net of the maximum reduction in federal income taxes which could be obtained from a deduction
of such state and local taxes), results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of the Payments. Any reduction in the Payments required
by this Section will be made in the following order: (A) reduction of cash payments; (B) reduction of accelerated vesting of Equity Awards other than stock
options; (C) reduction of accelerated vesting of stock options; and (D) reduction of other benefits paid or provided to Executive. In the event that acceleration of
vesting of Equity Awards is to be reduced, such acceleration of vesting will be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant of such Equity Awards. If two or
more Equity Awards are granted on the same date, the accelerated vesting of each award will be reduced on a pro-rata basis.

(ii) The professional firm engaged by the Company for general tax purposes as of the day prior to the date of the event that might
reasonably be anticipated to result in Payments that would otherwise be subject to the Excise Tax will perform the foregoing calculations. If the tax firm so
engaged by the Company is serving as accountant or auditor for the acquiring company, the Company will appoint a nationally recognized tax firm to make the
determinations required by this Section. The Company will bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by the tax firm required to be made by this
Section. The Company and Executive shall furnish the tax firm such information and documents as the tax firm may reasonably request in order to make its
required determination. The tax firm will provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and Executive as soon as
practicable following its engagement. Any good faith determinations of the tax firm made hereunder will be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and
Executive.
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(c) Change in Control. A Change in Control is defined as any one of the following occurrences:

(i) Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)),
becomes the “beneficial owner” (as such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company
representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total fair market value or total combined voting power of the Company’s then-outstanding securities entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors; provided, however, that a Change in Control shall not be deemed to have occurred if such degree of beneficial
ownership results from any of the following: (A) an acquisition of securities by any person who on the Effective Date is the beneficial owner of more than fifty
percent (50%) of such voting power, (B) any acquisition of securities directly from the Company, including, without limitation, pursuant to or in connection with
a public offering of securities, (C) any acquisition of securities by the Company, (D) any acquisition of securities by a trustee or other fiduciary under an
employee benefit plan of the Company, or (E) any acquisition of securities by an entity owned directly or indirectly by the stockholders of the Company in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership of the voting securities of the Company; or

(ii) the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (other than a sale or disposition to one or more
subsidiaries of the Company), or any transaction having similar effect is consummated; or

(iii) the Company is party to a merger or consolidation that results in the holders of voting securities of the Company outstanding
immediately prior thereto failing to continue to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity)
more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or
consolidation; or

(iv) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company.

7.6 Termination of Employment Upon Nonrenewal. In the event either party decides not to renew this Agreement for a subsequent term in
accordance with Section 3.2, this Agreement will expire automatically upon completion of the then effective Term, and Executive’s employment with the
Company will thereupon terminate. Executive will be entitled to receive only Executive’s Base Salary then in effect, prorated to the Termination Date, and all
amounts and benefits earned or incurred pursuant to Sections 5 and 6 through the Termination Date. All other Company obligations to Executive pursuant to this
Agreement will be automatically terminated and completely extinguished. Executive will not be entitled to receive the Severance Package described in
Section 7.2, but will be subject to the surviving provisions of this Agreement as set forth in Section 13.8.

7.7 Conditions to Severance Package. Executive will only be entitled to receive the Severance Package if, on or before the 60th day following the
Termination Date, Executive executes a full general release, releasing all claims, known or unknown, that Executive may have against the Company and its
officers, directors, employees and affiliated companies arising out of or any way related to Executive’s employment or termination of employment with the
Company, and the period for revocation, if any, of such release has lapsed without the release having been revoked. In the event that Executive breaches any of
the covenants contained in Sections 9 (“Other Covenants”), 10 (“Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights”) or 11 (“Non-Competition; Nonsolicitation of Company
Employees”), the Company shall have the right to (a) terminate further provision of any portion of the Severance Package not yet paid or provided, and (b) seek
reimbursement from Executive for any and all portions of the Severance Package previously paid or provided to Executive.
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7.8 Resignation of Board or Other Positions. Executive agrees that should Executive’s employment terminate for any reason, Executive will
immediately resign all other positions (including board membership) Executive may hold on behalf of the Company.

7.9 Application of Section 409A.

(a) Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement to the contrary, no amount payable pursuant to this Agreement on account of
Executive’s termination of employment with the Company which constitutes a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning of the Treasury Regulations issued
pursuant to Section 409A of the Code (the “Section 409A Regulations”) shall be paid unless and until Executive has incurred a “separation from service” within
the meaning of the Section 409A Regulations. Furthermore, if Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of the Section 409A Regulations as of the
date of Executive’s separation from service, no amount that constitutes a deferral of compensation which is payable on account of Executive’s separation from
service shall be paid to Executive before the date (the “Delayed Payment Date”) which is first day of the seventh month after the date of Executive’s separation
from service or, if earlier, the date of Executive’s death following such separation from service. All such amounts that would, but for this Section 7.9(a), become
payable prior to the Delayed Payment Date will be accumulated and paid on the Delayed Payment Date.

(b) It is the intent of the Company and Executive that any right of Executive to receive installment payments hereunder shall, for all purposes
of Section 409A of the Code, be treated as a right to a series of separate payments.

(c) The Company intends that income provided to Executive pursuant to this Agreement will not be subject to taxation under Section 409A
of the Code. The provisions of this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in favor of satisfying any applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code.
However, the Company does not guarantee any particular tax effect for income provided to Executive pursuant to this Agreement. In any event, except
for the Company’s responsibility to withhold applicable income and employment taxes from compensation paid or provided to Executive, the Company shall not
be responsible for the payment of any applicable taxes incurred by Executive on compensation paid or provided to Executive pursuant to this Agreement.

8. No Violation of Rights of Third Parties. Executive represents and warrants to the Company that Executive is not currently a party, and will not become a
party, to any other agreement that is in conflict with, or will prevent Executive from complying with, this Agreement. Executive further represents and warrants to
the Company that Executive’s performance of all of the terms of this Agreement as an employee of the Company does not and will not breach any agreement to
keep in confidence any proprietary information, knowledge, or data acquired by Executive in confidence or trust prior to Executive’s employment with the
Company. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the representations and warranties in this Section 8 are a material part of this Agreement.
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9. Other Covenants. Executive hereby makes the following covenants, each of which Executive acknowledges and agrees are a material part of this
Agreement:

9.1 During the Term, Executive will not (a) breach any agreement to keep in confidence any confidential or proprietary information, knowledge or
data acquired by Executive prior to Executive’s employment with Company, or (b) disclose to the Company, or use or induce the Company to use, any
confidential or proprietary information or material belonging to any previous employer or any other third party. Executive acknowledges that the Company has
specifically instructed Executive not to breach any such agreement or make any such disclosures to the Company.

9.2 During the Term, Executive will not engage in any work or activity, paid or unpaid, that creates an actual conflict of interest with the Company.
Such work shall include, but is not limited to, directly or indirectly competing with the Company in any way, or acting as an officer, director, employee,
consultant, stockholder, volunteer, lender, or agent of any business enterprise of the same nature as, or which is in direct competition with, the business in which
the Company is now engaged or in which the Company becomes engaged during the Term, as may be determined by the Company in its sole discretion. If the
Company believes such a conflict exists during the Term, the Company may ask Executive to choose to discontinue the other work or activity or resign
employment with the Company.

9.3 During the Term and after the termination thereof, neither Executive nor the Company will disparage each other, or the Company’s products,
services, agents or employees.

9.4 During the Term and after the termination thereof, at the Company’s expense and upon its reasonable request, Executive will cooperate and assist
the Company in its defense or prosecution of any disputes, differences, grievances, claims, charges, or complaints between the Company and any third party,
which assistance will include testifying on the Company’s behalf in connection with any such matter or performing any other task reasonably requested by the
Company in connection therewith.

10. Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights. Executive agrees to continue to abide by the Nondisclosure Agreement, which is incorporated herein by
reference.

11. Non-Competition; Nonsolicitation of Company’s Employees. Executive acknowledges that in the course of his employment with the Company he will
serve as a member of the Company’s senior management and will become familiar with the Company’s trade secrets and with other confidential and proprietary
information and that his services will be of special, unique and extraordinary value to the Company. Executive further acknowledges that the Company’s business,
a substantial portion of which is conducted online, is national in scope and that the Company, in the course of such business, recruits students and faculty
throughout the United States, works with vendors throughout the United States, and competes with other companies located throughout the United States.
Therefore, in consideration of the foregoing, Executive agrees that, during the Term, and during the six-month (6) month period following the Term, he shall not
directly or indirectly anywhere within the United States of America (a) own (except ownership of less than 1% of any class of securities which are listed for
trading on any securities exchange or which are traded in the over-the-counter market), manage, control, participate in, consult with, render services for, be
employed by, or in any manner engage in the operation of (i) a for-profit, post-secondary education institution, or (ii) any other business of the Company in which
Executive had significant involvement prior to Executive’s separation; (b) solicit funds on behalf of, or for the benefit of, any for-profit, post-secondary education
institution (other than the Company) or any other entity that competes with the Company; (c) solicit individuals who are current or prospective students of the
Company to be students for any other for-profit, post-secondary education institution; (d) induce or attempt to induce any employee of the Company to leave the
employ of the Company, or in any way interfere with the relationship between the Company and any employee thereof, or (e) induce or attempt to induce any
student, customer, supplier, licensee or other business relation of the Company to cease doing business with, or modify its business relationship with, the
Company, or in any way interfere with or hinder the relationship between any such student, customer, supplier, licensee or business relation and the Company.
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12. Injunctive Relief. Executive acknowledges that Executive’s breach of the covenants contained in Sections 9, 10 and 11 hereof (collectively
“Covenants”) would cause irreparable injury to the Company and agrees that in the event of any such breach, the Company shall be entitled to seek temporary,
preliminary and permanent injunctive relief without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting any bond or other security in addition to any other relief to
which the Company may be entitled and other remedies Company may exercise under this Agreement or otherwise.

13. General Provisions.

13.1 Successors and Assigns. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon
the successors and assigns of the Company. Executive shall not be entitled to assign any of Executive’s rights or obligations under this Agreement.

13.2 Waiver. Either party’s failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such provision, or
prevent that party thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement.

13.3 Attorneys’ Fees. In the event of a dispute involving the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement, a court shall award attorneys’ fees and
costs to the prevailing party.

13.4 Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provision
shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to allow enforceability of the provision as so limited, it being intended that the parties shall receive the benefit
contemplated herein to the fullest extent permitted by law. If a deemed modification is not satisfactory in the judgment of such court, the unenforceable provision
shall be deemed deleted, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby.

13.5 Interpretation; Construction. The headings set forth in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be used in interpreting this
Agreement. This Agreement has been drafted by legal counsel representing the Company, but Executive has participated in the negotiation of its terms.
Furthermore, Executive acknowledges that Executive has had an opportunity to review and revise the Agreement and have it reviewed by legal counsel, if
desired, and, therefore, the normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the
interpretation of this Agreement.
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13.6 Governing Law; Forum. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the United States and the State of
Arizona . Each party consents to the jurisdiction and venue of the state or federal courts in Phoenix, Arizona, if applicable, in any action, suit, or proceeding
arising out of or relating to this Agreement, and agrees that the state or federal courts in Phoenix, Arizona shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any dispute
arising between the parties related to this Agreement or Executive’s employment with the Company.

13.7 Notices. Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered as follows with notice deemed given as
indicated: (a) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (b) by overnight courier upon written verification of receipt; (c) by telecopy or facsimile
transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (d) by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of
receipt. Notice shall be sent to the addresses set forth under the signatures below, or such other address as either party may specify in writing.

13.8 Survival. Sections 9 (“Other Covenants”), 10 (“Confidentiality and Proprietary Rights”), 11 (“Non-Competition; Nonsolicitation of Company’s
Employees”), 12 (“Injunctive Relief”), 14 (“General Provisions”) and 15 (“Entire Agreement”) of this Agreement shall survive termination of Executive’s
employment with the Company.

14. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the Nondisclosure Agreement incorporated herein by reference, constitutes the entire agreement
between the parties relating to this subject matter and supersedes all prior or simultaneous representations, discussions, negotiations, and agreements, whether
written or oral. This Agreement may be amended or modified only with the written consent of Executive and the Board. No oral waiver, amendment or
modification will be effective under any circumstances whatsoever.

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HAVE READ THE FOREGOING AGREEMENT AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH AND EVERY PROVISION
CONTAINED HEREIN. WHEREFORE, THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT ON THE DATES SHOWN BELOW.
 

  BRIAN ROBERTS

Dated: August 16, 2012   By:  /s/ Brian M. Roberts
  Address:  3300 West Camelback Road
   Phoenix, Arizona 85017

  GRAND CANYON EDUCATION, INC.

Dated: September 7, 2012   By:  /s/ Brian E. Mueller
  Name:  Brian E. Mueller
  Title:  CEO and Director

  Address:  3300 West Camelback Road
   Phoenix, Arizona 85017
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 0F THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brian E. Mueller, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2013 of Grand Canyon Education, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 7, 2013    /s/ Brian E. Mueller

   Brian E. Mueller
   Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 0F THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel E. Bachus, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2013 of Grand Canyon Education, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 7, 2013    /s/ Daniel E. Bachus

   Daniel E. Bachus
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (the “University”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian E. Mueller, Chief Executive Officer, of the University, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the University.
 
Date: May 7, 2013

/s/ Brian E. Mueller
Brian E. Mueller
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10Q of Grand Canyon Education, Inc. (the “University”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Daniel E. Bachus, Chief Financial Officer, of the University, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the University.
 
Date: May 7, 2013

/s/ Daniel E. Bachus
Daniel E. Bachus
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Principal
Accounting Officer)


